
Shelby County Plan Commission 
Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday  
July 27, 2021 

 
Members Present: 
Doug Warnecke 
Chris Ross  
Mike McCain 
Steve Mathies  
Terry Smith  
Scott Gabbard  
 
Members Absent: 
Charity Mohr  
Kevin Carson  
Taylor Sumerford 
 
Staff Present: 
Desiree Calderella – Planning Director 
Jodie Butts – Plan Commission Attorney 
 
Call to Order and Roll Call: 
Doug Warnecke called the July 27, 2021 meeting to order at 7:00 pm in Room 208 A at 
the Court House Annex. 
 
Approval of Minutes: 
Steve Mathies made a motion to approve the minutes from June 22, 2021.  Chris Ross 
seconded the motion.  The minutes were approved 6-0. 
 
Request for Dismissal: 
 
RZ 21-13 – SHELBY GRAVEL, INC REZONING: Rezoning of 254.127 acres from 
the A1 (Conservation Agricultural) District to the HI (High Impact) District to allow 
for a gravel/sand mining operation.  Located at the southwest corner of I-65 & 
W 1000 S, Edinburgh, Jackson Township. 
 
Stephen L. Huddleston, attorney at Huddleston & Huddleston representing the Town of 
Edinburgh, requested a dismissal of the petition.  He explained that in 1990 Edinburgh 
had designated the property within its 2-mile buffer zone and therefore maintained 
exclusive jurisdiction over the zoning of the property.  He referenced IC 36-7-4-205 f and 
the County population at the time as the legal basis for Edinburgh having the ability to 
obtain the jurisdiction.  He indicated that Indiana case law did not support application of 
IC 36-7-4-205 e to allow the County to deny the jurisdiction.  He provided exhibits in 
support of the request (see case file).   
 



Wade Watson, the Planning Director for the Town of Edinburgh, was also present. 
 
Jody Butts stated that based on the evidence provided it is not definitive that Edinburgh 
has jurisdiction over the property and that the County has jurisdiction. 
 
Eric Glasco, attorney for Shelby Gravel, Inc, explained that IC 36-7-4-205 f would not 
have applied because it only allowed for assumption of extraterritorial jurisdiction within 
the same County as the municipality.  Edinburgh had not annexed land in Shelby County 
until 1996. Therefore, Edinburgh could only have obtained jurisdiction per IC 36-7-4-205 
e which required consented of the County by adoption of an ordinance. 
 
Stephen L. Huddleston stated they stand by the information presented and Edinburgh 
does have jurisdiction. 
 
Desiree Calderella indicated that she agrees with Jody, that the evidence does not 
definitively give Edinburgh jurisdiction and Edinburgh has not attempted to exercise 
jurisdiction until submittal of this petition. 
 
Eric Glasco explained that Edinburgh would have the option to file suit against the 
County after approval of the rezoning. 
 
Chris Ross made a motion to vote on the request to dismiss and Steve Mathies seconded 
that motion.  The request to dismiss was DENIED 6-0. 
 
Public Hearings: 
 
Old Business 
 
None. 
 
New Business 
 
SD 21-10 – BRAND HILL SIMPLE SUBDIVSION: Subdivision of 5 acres into a 
2.2-acre building lot and a 2.8-acre lot including an existing single-family residence.  
Also, waivers of subdivision design standards to allow Simple Subdivision of a 5-
acre parent tract (minimum 6-acre parent tract required), a lot having 75.82-feet of 
road frontage (minimum 160-feet of frontage required), a lot having a width of 
75.82-feet (minimum 160-feet lot width required), and side lot lines not within a 15-
degree angle to the right-of-way.  Located at 2531 S 550 W, Shelbyville, 
Hendricks Township. 
 
Desiree Calderella read the petition into the record and stated that Staff recommends 
approval.   
 
Scott Sumerford represented the petitioner.  He explained that his client plans to build a 
house on Lot 2, behind the existing house. 



 
The Board opened the hearing for public comment.  There was none.  The Board closed 
the public comment portion of the hearing. 
 
Q: Steve Mathies: Will both lots share the same driveway. 
A: Scott Sumerford: Yes, Lot 2 will use an easement but also has fee-simple road 
frontage. 
 
Steve Mathies made a motion to vote on the petition and Scott Gabbard seconded that 
motion.  The petition was APPROVED 6-0. 
 
RZ 21-14 – BROWNING INVESTMENTS REZONING: Rezoning of 56.27 acres 
from the A1 (Conservation Agricultural) District to the I1 (Low Intensity 
Industrial) District to allow for a warehouse facility.  Located at 9175 N Frontage 
Rd, Fairland, Moral Township. 
 
Desiree Calderella read the petition into the record and stated that Staff recommends 
approval with stipulations. 
 
Chris King represented the petitioner.  He indicated that the Comprehensive Plan 
recommends industrial development for the area and that the project is speculative in 
nature.  He stated that the petitioner agrees with Staff’s proposed stipulations. 
 
Matt Brauer and Terry Hebert with Browning Investments were also present. 
 
The Board opened the hearing for public comment.  There was none.  The Board closed 
the public comment portion of the hearing. 
 
Chris King explained that the County has commissioned a traffic study for the area and 
plans to make improvements to Frontage Road. 
 
Q: Doug Warnecke: There is no building occupant planned, correct? 
A: Chris King: Correct. 
 
Chris Ross verified that the County has begun the planning process for improving 
Frontage Rd. 
 
Steve Mathies commended Browning as a quality company. 
 
Steve Mathies made a motion to vote on the petition with stipulations and Chris Ross 
seconded that motion.  The petition was APPROVED 6-0 with stipulations: 
 
 
 



1. The sum of the square footage of the footprints of all buildings on site 
shall not significantly exceed the square footage of the footprint of the 
building indicated on the Site Plan submitted with the rezoning application. 
 

2. The total square footage of parking, loading, and maneuvering areas shall 
not significantly exceed the square footage of the parking, loading, and 
maneuvering areas indicated on the Site Plan submitted with the rezoning 
application. 
 

3. The Zoning Administrator shall have the discretion to require Plan 
Commission approval of any modification to the site plan. 

 
4. The primary structure(s) shall be consistent with the building elevations 

submitted with the rezoning application.  The Zoning Administrator shall 
have the discretion to require Plan Commission approval of any modification 
to the building elevations. 

 
5. At least one (1) canopy tree per fifty (50) lineal feet of frontage shall be 

installed along the length of the property that abuts Frontage Road.   
 
6. Landscape Buffer Yard ‘C” shall be installed to screen loading berths visible 

from I-74.  The Zoning Administrator shall have the discretion to determine 
the location and length of the buffer yard along property lines. 

 
The Board adopted the following findings of fact: 
 

1. The request is consistent with the Shelby County Comprehensive Plan. 
2. The request is consistent with the current conditions and the character of 

structures and uses in each district. 
3. The request is consistent with the most desirable use for which the land in each 

district is adapted. 
4. The request is consistent with the conservation of property values throughout the 

jurisdiction. 
5. The request is consistent with responsible growth and development. 

 
RZ 21-13 – SHELBY GRAVEL, INC REZONING: Rezoning of 254.127 acres from 
the A1 (Conservation Agricultural) District to the HI (High Impact) District to allow 
for a gravel/sand mining operation.  Located at the southwest corner of I-65 & 
W 1000 S, Edinburgh, Jackson Township. 
 
Desiree Calderella read the petition into the record and stated that Staff recommends 
approval with stipulations. 
 
Eric Glasco represented the petitioner.  He provided an overview of the case using a 
PowerPoint presentation provided to the Board (see case file).  He stated that Shelby 



Gravel had considered the commitments under the assumption that adjacent districts 
within Edinburgh are zoned residential, however do not know the definitive zoning of 
these parcels.  He played a video demonstrating sound heard outside a Shelby Gravel 
facility utilizing berms.  He explained that Shelby Gravel would not utilize blasting or 
explosives on site, and that noise would consist of backup alarms on trucks and the 
dredging equipment, however the proposed berms would reduce much of this noise.   
He stated that Shelby Gravel requests reduction of the south and west setbacks to 150-
feet and removal of the bond from the commitments.  He stated that an Economic Impact 
Study conducted by Brian Asher at SCDC showed an increased tax revenue over 10 years 
of $170,000 as a result of the rezoning. 
 
The Board opened the hearing for public comment.   
 
Eric A Williams, who owns property at 7002 W 1000 S, represented himself, his family, 
Karen A Garrison Denton, Donna Christian, and Rita Gearhart.  He provided a handout to 
the Board (see case file).  He  expressed concerns with lack of adequate notice, the need 
for Shelby Gravel to mine the property when they own additional property available to 
mine, previous statements made by Shelby Gravel agreeing to not mine the property, lack 
of maintenance of berms and dust on the road at Shelby Gravel’s property in Johnson 
County, low tax revenue versus residential development, truck traffic and traffic safety, 
Shelby Gravel’s use of Johnson County REMC rather than Rush-Shelby, and the 
possibility of sale of the property for other types of industrial development after approval 
of a rezoning. 
 
Desiree Calderella explained that if the County approved the rezoning with the 
commitments, that a new owner could only use the property for sand/gravel mining as 
proposed by Shelby Gravel.  
 
William McFarland, who’s family owns property to the west of the subject property, 
asked about the timeline of mining the property and uses permitted by the rezoning. 
 
Sherry Kabrich, who owns property at 6904 W 600 S, expressed concerns with traffic and 
aesthetics.   
 
The Board closed the public comment portion of the hearing. 
 
Eric Glasco stated that Shelby Gravel had mailed out the legal notice on July 14th.  He 
stated that a berm and landscaping likely were not required when Shelby Gravel acquired 
the Johnson County site in 1978.  He stated Shelby Gravel has had the goal of mining the 
property since the 1990s and does not plan to sell the property or use the property for any 
other purpose.  He explained that the transition of mining operations from the Johnson 
County site to the subject site would happen slowly.  He explained that Shelby Gravel 
would follow state regulations regarding dust suppression and that the proposed 
commitments also address dust.  He explained that Brian Asher’s Economic Impact 



Study referenced personal property as well as real property.  He explained that Shelby 
Gravel was directed to use Johnson County REMC.  He explained that traffic would 
transition from the Johnson County site to the new location and therefore would not 
increase. 
 
Q: Chris Ross –  How long is the property between the subject property and Old SR 252? 
A: Terry Smith – 1200 feet.  
 
Eric Glasco explained that Shelby Gravel has no immediate plans to mine the property 
between Old SR 252 and the subject property. 
 
Doug Warnecke stated that this property would act as a natural buffer. 
 
Q: Doug Warnecke –  Does Shelby Gravel plan to mine the property because the life 
cycle of the Johnson County plant is running out or because they need additional 
materials?  What is the timeline? 
A: Eric Glasco – It’s a lifecycle issue, they will phase in the new plant.  They don’t have 
a specific timeline. 
 
Bill Haehl with Shelby Gravel explained that the company will need to transition 
operations to the property because they have not successfully worked out a deal to buy 
property adjoining the current location.  He stated that they may strip soil from the site 
relatively soon but will not have a plant on site for several years. 
 
Doug Warnecke explained that sale of property and taxes do not fall under the purview of 
the Board. 
 
Chris Ross stated that County Line Rd. is maintained by Johnson County. 
 
Wade Watson stated that the adjacent parcels in Edinburgh’s jurisdiction are zoned 
residential. He stated that Edinburgh’s Comprehensive Plan shows future commercial and 
industrial development for the adjacent property to the south.  
 
Eric Glasco explained that a Reclamation Plan typically includes leveling berms and 
using berm soil to prepare the site for residential development.  He stated that Shelby 
Gravel could not deviate from the Reclamation Plan included in the commitments 
without approval of the Plan Commission.  
 
Desiree Calderella explained that she had recommended doubling the required setback 
from adjacent residential districts because the UDO does not list residential districts and 
the High Impact District as compatible districts. 
 
Q: Doug Warnecke –  Could Shelby Gravel develop the site with the increased setback? 
A: Eric Glasco – Yes, however it poses a significant economic impact.  He explained that 



the berm rather than the setback would buffer noise. 
A: Bill Haehl – The increased setback results in a reduction of about 8 million in gross 
sales.  He stated he believed the setback is excessive. 
 
Desiree Calderella explained that she had recommended a bond for reclamation because 
IMI and Martin Marietta had agreed to provide Johnson County a bond for reclamation.  
She explained that the terms of the bond reflect the terms of the bond required by the 
UDO for decommissioning of solar facilities.  She explained that the high impact use 
may warrant posting of a bond, however the Board should consider if they trusted the 
company to reclaim the site without posting a bond. 
 
Eric Glasco explained that Johnson County had likely required a bond due to the potential 
environmental impacts posed by IMI and Martin Marietta mining in the floodplain.  
 
Terry Smith indicated that he believed that the additional 150-foot setback would not 
make much of an impact on buffering the noise of the equipment’s diesel engine. 
 
Chris Ross indicated he would rather see more emphasis on the landscaping than the 
setback. 
 
Desiree Calderella explained that improper maintenance of required landscaping would 
violate the UDO. 
 
Desiree Calderella explained that the bond would cover the cost to reclaim the site per the 
reclamation plan included in the commitments, which would include grading the site for 
use for residential development or park space. 
 
Steve Mathies indicated that he didn’t see the need to burden a reputable company with a 
bond. 
 
Terry Smith indicated that reclaiming the site would increase the value of the property, 
therefore the company would benefit from properly reclaiming the property. 
 
Steve Mathies made a motion to vote on the petition with the proposed commitments, 
however removing the commitment regarding the bond and amending the commitment 
regarding the setbacks to change all setbacks to 150-feet.  Chris Ross seconded that 
motion.  The petition was APPROVED 6-0 with amended commitments (see attached 
commitments). 
 
The Board adopted the following findings of fact: 
 

1. The request is consistent with the Shelby County Comprehensive Plan. 
2. The request is consistent with the current conditions and the character of 

structures and uses in each district. 



3. The request is consistent with the most desirable use for which the land in each 
district is adapted. 

4. The request is consistent with the conservation of property values throughout the 
jurisdiction. 

5. The request is consistent with responsible growth and development. 
 
RZ 21-15 – UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT: 
INDUSTRIAL STANDARDS & ROW DEDICATION: Amendment of Article 2 & 
Article 5.  Specifically, amendment to sections 2.34, 2.36, 5.17 C 4, 5.20 B and 
addition of section DPI-01: General Dedication of Right-of-Way Standards. Applies 
to Unincorporated Shelby County and the Town of Fairland. 
 
Desiree Calderella read the petition into the record and stated that the proposed ordinance 
had not changed from the ordinance presented to the Plan Commission at their June 22, 
2021 meeting. 
 
The Board opened the hearing for public comment.   
 
Chris King with Runnebohm Construction Company, Inc. voiced support for the 
amendment. 
 
The Board closed the public comment portion of the hearing. 
 
Q: Scott Gabbard –  Have the Fire Departments reviewed the amendment to the driveway 
widths? 
A: Desiree Calderella – No, however the proposed driveway width is standard in several 
other ordinances.  
 
Chris Ross made a motion to vote on the ordinance amendment and Scott Gabbard 
seconded that motion.  The amendment was APPROVED 6-0. 
 
Discussion 
 
None. 
 
Adjournment: 
 
With no further business to come before the Board, Chris Ross made a motion to adjourn.  
Terry Smith seconded that motion.  The meeting was adjourned.  
 
 
___________________________________ 
Doug Warnecke 
President                         Date 
 



 
___________________________________ 
Scott Gabbard 
Secretary    Date   



EXHIBIT C






















	Old Business
	New Business



